ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Hampton County

Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
OCT 11 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DALONTE GREEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001059

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by excluding the testimony of Hampton Police Officer Johnny Wells that the decedent told him “Douglas” shot him where the decedent had been shot in the face, he was badly bleeding, it appeared to Wells the decedent was about to die, and the decedent indeed died shortly thereafter, since this statement was admissible pursuant to Rule 804(b)(2) as a statement under belief of impending death?

2.

Whether the court erred by ruling it would not allow defense counsel to argue for the admissibility of the dying declaration because the court had done its own research, since this was an arbitrary ruling, it violated Rule 18(a), SCRCrimP, and it denied appellant his right to be heard fully in his defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Hampton County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. 181. His case came on for trial on February 4, 2015 before the Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III, and a jury. Steve Knight was the assistant solicitor. Robert Hughes was defense counsel. R. 1.

On February 7, 2015 the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 174, ll. 17-22. Judge Buckner sentenced appellant to thirty years imprisonment. R. 179, l. 23 – 180, l. 30.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by excluding the testimony of Hampton Police Officer Johnny Wells that the decedent told him “Douglas” shot him where the decedent had been shot in the face, he was badly bleeding, it appeared to Wells the decedent was about to die, and the decedent indeed died shortly thereafter, since this statement was admissible pursuant to Rule 804(b)(2) as a statement under belief of impending death.

### **Relevant facts**

#### **Officer Johnny Wells**

The defense proffered the testimony of Hampton Police Officer Johnny Wells. Wells testified on December 1, 2012, he was an officer “with the Hampton Police Department, Sergeant, night shift. We got a call, shots fired, at Gray’s Paradise.” R. 123, ll. 3-13. Wells waited for “backup” given the “type of incident.” R. 123, ll. 10-20.

Officer Wells saw the decedent, Xavier Rodd, walking down the street. The decedent told Officer Wells : “I got shot,’ that’s what he said when I encountered him. And at the time, there was other officers on [the] scene and we was trying to find out who shot him. About that time, he started to fall to the ground and I grabbed him. He was bleeding; blood was all over the place. It was kind of muffled with his talking, but there was something in his mouth, which was a lot of blood, and a lot of blood was coming out, and it was very difficult to understand exactly what he was saying, but he was trying to say something. In my experience with law enforcement **and dealing with this type of situation, it appeared to me that he was about to die.** *So at that time, I never asked him who shot him, there was another officer who asked him who shot him. But I was there; I*

*asked him do he believe in God. And at that time, he spoke clearer than I have ever heard him speak during the whole confrontation. His response was, 'Yeah. Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah. Yeah.' That's what he said when I asked him do he believe in God."* R. 124, l. 6

– 125. l. 3. The following then occurred with Officer Wells.

And when he said that, in my mind I was thinking of John 3 and 16, "For God so loved the world that He gave His only begotten Son that whosoever believeth in Him should not perish but have everlasting life." So I wanted to make sure that he believed that because I knew that this was a very critical moment. So at that point, I began to pray for him as I held him *as he was taking his last breath*.

Q. Did he answer the question of who killed him?

A. Well, I do believe he said a name.

Q. Do you recall that name?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. What was it?

A. The name I heard him say at that time was **Douglas**.

Q. And you were sure enough to write that time in an incident report?

A. Yes, sir, I did.

Mr. Hughes: Your Honor, that would be basically - - -

The Court: That's your proffer?

Mr. Hughes: That's my proffer. Cross-examination.

R. 125, ll. 4-22. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, Wells testified that the decedent told him and Officer Teddy Scott more than once that Douglas was the person who shot him. Wells said he was holding "Mr. Rodd in my hand" at the time and that he was spitting out blood and mumbling.

However, the decedent was able to tell the two police officers that “**Douglas**” was the man who shot him. R. 126, 3-23.

Wells also testified that the decedent “wasn’t really mumbling. He answered the question. He was saying, ‘my mouth, my mouth.’ I know he said, ‘Douglas,’ and he also said, ‘I don’t want to die.’ That’s what I recall.” R. 127, ll. 9-15.

The solicitor argued that there had not been any testimony from a medical expert or from “EMS,” that the decedent believed his death was imminent. “I think that’s part of the criteria to get a declaration in is that the victim believed that death was imminent.” R. 127, l. 22 – 128, l. 4. The trial judge then interjected third party guilt into the discussion. The solicitor then claimed:

“Yes, sir, that’s what it appears. **There’s got to be more testimony from the defendant as to the person, time, and place who did the killing; the third party, so to speak. We don’t have anything.** As I see the case law, and I’m sure the Court has this case, because I think you showed it to me, State v. Holmes, the criteria it laid out there. Hasn’t been met in this case in his testimony at all.”

R. 128, ll. 7-24. (emphasis added).

Defense counsel started to tell the judge that he did not know who Douglas was because the one witness he had “as to who Douglas was [was the decedent].” The judge cut defense counsel off at the point but defense counsel did tell the judge it was the defense’s position under Rule 804(b)(2), SCRE that the decedent’s statement was admissible as a dying declaration. R. 128, l. 23 – 129, l. 13.

The trial judge cited to State v. Hall, 134 S.C. 361, 133 S.E. 24 (1926) wherein the Supreme Court held that a statement by the decedent was admissible as a dying declaration. In State v. Hall our Supreme Court wrote: “To render these declarations admissible, it was

**only necessary** that the trial judge should be satisfied: First, that the death of the deceased was imminent at the time the declarations were made; second, that the deceased was so fully aware of this as to be without hope of recovery; third, that, the subject of the charge was the death of the declarant, and the circumstances of the death was (were?), the subject of the declaration.” State v. Hall, 134 S.C. 361, 133 S.E. 24, 26 (1926). The trial judge ruled that Officer Wells could not testify that before the decedent died he told him that “Douglas” was the person that shot him. R. 130, l. 8 – 132, l. 22. The judge reasoned:

There should have been for me some proof of circumstances with it. Some train of facts of circumstances which tend clearly to point out such other person as the guilty party. Here, I don't have that, and for that reason, Mr. Hughes, the state's objection as to the admission of the testimony is sustained.

Mr. Hughes: *Your Honor, may I argue?*

The Court: *No sir, no more argument because I've researched this for two days, Mr. Hughes. I think I'm very familiar with it. I think that's sufficient. The record is protected. You've made a proffer of the witness. I've listened to the testimony and allowed you to do it, and I've listened to the argument of the solicitor and you and I've ruled on the matter. I'll be happy for you to call this witness, but I sustain the objection as to the testimony as to what he heard as far as the name.*

Mr. Hughes: *May I place my objection on the record?*

The Court: *Your objection is on the record. You opposed the motion of the solicitor and it is noted on the record.*

R. 132, l. 7 – 133, l. 1. (emphasis added).

## **Other evidence**

Varnville Police Officer Teddy Scott testified that he was dispatched to Gray's Paradise Club in the early morning hours of December 1, 2002. He was told: "There was (sic) shots fired." R. 8, ll. 2-22.

Officer Scott remembered that he talked to the owner of the club when he arrived. "After talking with Alfred Gray, I went down Tillman Avenue and met with another officer and the victim was sitting on the side of the vehicle." R. 9, ll. 6-8. The decedent was leaning against Officer Chambers' police cruiser. Officer Scott remembered: "He was bleeding and stuff, I asked who shot him . . . Mostly it was gurgle coming from him, but I do remember him asking me about the ambulance." Scott said when he asked the decedent who shot him "he mumbled something but I couldn't understand what he was saying." R. 9, l. 5 – 10, l. 5.

Officer Scott also said he tried to have the decedent write down who shot him but "apparently, he was too weak and kind of out of it from the gunshot wound . . . so he really couldn't write anything. It was more like a scribble, and I couldn't understand what it was." R. 11, l. 14 – 12, l. 5.

Officer Scott remembered that Officer Johnny Wells with the "Hampton Police Department," was also on the scene at the time. R. 14, ll. 2-22. Scott said that officer Wells was talking to the decedent but he claimed the decedent did not say anything to Officer Wells in reply. R. 14, ll. 21 – 15, l. 4.

Varnville Police Department Officer Marion Chambers was also on the scene on December 1, 2002 at Gray's Paradise Club. Chambers remembered it was approximately two o'clock in the morning. R. 16, ll. 6-24. Officer Chambers recalled that the decedent

was bleeding “profusely.” R. 17, ll. 3-23. Chambers said he attempted to talk to the decedent but the decedent said “nothing.” R. 17, ll. 10-13. Officer Chambers said that Officer Johnny Wells “may have” talked to the decedent also but “I wasn’t present for any conversation with Johnny Wells and the victim.” R. 18, ll. 2-6.

Hampton County EMS Paramedic Renatta Ford testified that the decedent had a gunshot wound “in the cheek.” R. 21, ll. 5-21. EMS workers cut the decedent’s clothes off, and the decedent pointed to his mouth. “That’s when we realized all of his teeth on the right side were shattered.” R. 22, ll. 7-12. “That’s all he did the whole time was point to his mouth; no verbal communication at all . . . The only time I really see that type of agitation is when someone is having an asthma attack and unable to breath. He was agitated, had anxiety, you know, on the verge of panicking because he was having issues breathing.” R. 22, l. 20 – 23, l. 5.

Q. At that time that you were treating him, was death imminent for him?

A. I cannot say that. When I had him in the back of the truck he had a heart rate. He had a lot of blood loss, but I can only talk about how he was in the back of the ambulance.

Q. How was his heart rate?

A. His heart rate was within normal limits, but the lower part of it.

R. 23, l. 19 – 24, l. 2.

On cross-examination by Defense Counsel Hughes he asked Ford “do you feel like he felt he was dying?” The solicitor objected but he did not state a reason for his objection. When defense counsel asked: “Would your gut say that he thought he was dying?” The judge sustained the objection. R. 26, ll. 7-19.

Markeisha Smith testified it was her birthday party they were celebrating at Gray's Paradise Club that night and early morning. She identified a photograph of Appellant Green and his girlfriend at the party. She identified the shirt that appellant was wearing. R. 27, l. 12 – 30, l. 22.

Taylor McQuire testified that he was a high school graduate, and he also had "a little college." McQuire knew appellant but he did not know the decedent. R. 48, ll. 3-14. McQuire testified he saw appellant with a gun that evening. R. 49, ll. 16-17; 51, ll. 13-15. McQuire was smoking marijuana that evening, but he maintained he was not drinking. R. 54, ll. 22-25.

McQuire recalled it was very dark outside when he heard a gunshot "go off." He quickly drove away in his car to "get out of there." R. 51, l. 13 – 52, l. 10.

Clarence Riley testified he went to the club that evening with appellant. Riley said that the two men "just wanted to go to the party that day." R. 55, l. 22 – 56, l. 12. Riley told the solicitor that he gave appellant a gun that evening "because he asked for it." Appellant did not give any reason for wanting his gun. R. 56, l. 20 – 57, l. 5. Despite the presence of the gun or guns the conversation was lighthearted: "Just girls and the party, stuff like that." R. 56, ll. 21-24.

Riley remembered seeing appellant "minutes" after he heard the gunshots. Riley maintained when they left the club to go to McDonalds it seemed to him that appellant "was just like somebody like he was running or something, like he was just was out of breath." R. 58, l. 22 – 59, l. 14.

Riley said the next day he got “rid of it [the gun].” Riley told the jurors: “Shit, I ain’t want it. I didn’t want it in my hands, if somebody did something with it.” R. 60, ll. 15-22.

Joseph Smoaks was incarcerated at the time of the trial. He remembered giving a videotaped statement to Chief Tyrone Smith on January 17, 2013. Smoaks did not remember what he told Smith that day. R. 78, ll. 3-16.

When the solicitor played the four-minute videotape for the jury, Smoaks told the jurors that everything he said on the video “was a lie. And I’m willing to own up to my responsibilities . . . that statement I gave him was a lie.” R. 78, l. 17 – 79, l. 24.

Pathologist Lee Marie Tormos performed the autopsy on the decedent the next morning, at “9:00 a.m. on December 2, 2012. R. 84, ll. 15-22. Dr. Tormos testified that the decedent was shot in the face: “Specifically, the lower lip.” “He was also bleeding internally into the chest cavities and it was also going down his windpipe into his lungs. He was aspirating blood.” “He was breathing in the blood. It was going into his lungs.” The decedent was also shot in the right arm, which was painful, but it was not the deadly wound. R. 85, l. 8 – 86, l. 22.

On cross-examination Dr. Tormos acknowledged that the decedent’s “internal jugular was severed.” Despite that fact she was not surprised to learn the decedent had walked approximately 500 yards after he was shot. Dr. Tormos said it was also possible that the decedent talked after he was shot. R. 89, l. 22- 90, l. 4.

SLED agent Jennifer Stoner testified that she tested a “blue, white and pink plaid shirt” -- allegedly worn by appellant that night -- for gunshot residue. R. 93, ll. 16-24. “I found gunshot residue and particles that are consistent with gunshot residue on the shirt.”

Stoner concluded that this meant that the shirt was near a weapon when it was fired. R. 97, l. 19 – 98, l. 16. Stoner admitted she could only testify the shirt she tested was “a sweatshirt belonging to a suspect.” R. 99, ll. 17-23.

Dontae Collins testified that he went to the Paradise Club with Taylor McQuire that evening. He did not see appellant at the club. R. 114, l. 20 – 115, l. 15.

Collins acknowledged he gave Chief Smith a statement on December 8, 2012. When that three-minute videotape of the statement was played for the jury, Collins told the jury: “I lied, and I didn’t see Dalonte shoot anybody.” R. 116, ll. 4-14. The videotape, State’s Exhibit 12, is before this Court for viewing.

### **Discussion**

Rule 804(b)(2) provides a hearsay exception for a “statement under belief of impending death.” “In a prosecution for homicide . . . a statement made by a declarant while believing the declarant’s death was imminent, concerning the cause or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death” is admissible.

In State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 544 S.E.2d 30 (2001), the defense argued that the victim’s identification of “SP” as her killer under the dying declaration exception to the hearsay rule, 804(b)(2), SCRE was error because there was no evidence the victim believed her death was imminent. Further, the victim did not die until two weeks after making the alleged statement. The Supreme Court disagreed with the defense arguments. It held that the statement was admissible as dying declaration.

The Supreme Court wrote: “[A] statement made under the belief of impending death is not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness in a prosecution for homicide, the statement is made by the declarant while believing the

declarant's death is imminent, and the statement concerned the causes or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be impending death." State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. at 92, 544 S.E.2d at 92. In McHoney the Supreme Court recognized that medical personnel assured the victim that she would be "fine." There was other evidence that the victim shook her head as if to say she did not believe the medical personnel, and she thought she was going to die. The Court noted that the person does not have to express, *in direct terms*, his or her awareness of their condition for the statement to be admissible as a dying declaration. "The necessary state of mind can be inferred from the facts and circumstances surrounding the declaration." State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. at 93, 544 S.E.2d at 33.

The Court also held that a person can be aware of imminent death *even when he is assured he will not die and that he will be fine*. The Court further held that the length of time the person actually lives after making the dying declaration is immaterial. "The focus is on the declarant's state of mind when the statement is made, not on the eventual outcome of the decedent's injuries." See State v. Hall, 134 S.C. 361, 133 S.E. 24 (1926). In State v. Hall, we held a dying declaration was properly admitted when the declaration was made shortly after the injury, and the declarant died thirty-three days later. We held it was the jury's duty to pass upon the credibility of the dying declaration, and the length of time between the declaration and death is just one factor to be considered. Id at 361, 133 S.E. at 26." State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. at 93-94, 544 S.E.2d at 34.

As seen, the autopsy on the decedent was performed at 9:00 the next morning, December 2, 2012. Law enforcement estimated the relevant events occurred around 2 A.M. on December 1, 2012. R. 84, ll. 13-24. In McHoney the victim died two weeks after her injuries. The Court wrote that this did *not* indicate the victim did *not* believe her death was

imminent at the time she gave her statement. The Court in McHoney also held that the victim's statement was, in addition, admissible as an excited utterance under Rule 803(2), SCRE. It was a statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress or excitement caused by the event of condition. State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. at 94, 544 S.E.2d at 34.

In this case, the decedent knew he was badly injured because he was bleeding profusely, his teeth were shattered, blood was coming out of his mouth, and he was panicking because it was hard for him to breathe. He died the same day or early the next day.

The trial judge erred, while citing State v. Hall, 134 S.C. 361, 133 S.E. 24 (1926), in support of his ruling. The judge reasoned that for the dying declaration to be admissible it must **also** meet all of the elements for evidence of third party guilt. That respectfully was error.

In State v. Hall, the victim was not shot. The victim in Hall had a compound fracture of his ribs, the fracture had pierced his lungs and it opened up raw lung tissue in connection with his windpipe. The decedent identified "Fred Hall" as his killer. The decedent lived for thirty-five days after making the dying declaration. See State v. Hall, 134 S.C. at 361, 133 S.E. at 25.

The Supreme Court in State v. Hall, which was a case prior to the adoption of the Rules of Evidence in 1995, reasoned that for a dying declaration to be admissible the judge must be satisfied of three things: "First, that the death was imminent at the time the declarations were made; second, that the deceased was so fully aware of this as to be without hope of recovery; third, that the subject of the charge was the death of the declarant

and the circumstances of the death was (were?) the subject of the declarations.” State v. Hall, 133 S.E. at 26. The Court also held that while the length of time elapsing between the making of the declaration and death was just one factor to be considered.

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