ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Hampton County
The Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 30 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DALONTE GREEN,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2015-001059

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 68383
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910
(843) 255-5880

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

A declarant is not required to express, in direct terms, his awareness of his condition for his statement to be admissible as a dying declaration. *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 93, 544 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2001). "The necessary state of mind can be inferred from the facts and circumstances surrounding the declaration." *Id.* The belief in imminent death may be demonstrated by the declarant's own statement or from circumstantial evidence, such as the nature of the wounds, the declarant's critical condition, or statements made in the declarant's

presence. *Id.* at 93, 544 S.E.2d at 33-34 (citations omitted). Moreover, the length of time the declarant lives after making the dying declaration is immaterial. The focus is on the person's state of mind when the statement is made, not on the outcome of the injuries. *State v. Hall*, 134 S.C. 361, 361, 133 S.E. 24, 26 (1926). In *Hall*, the Supreme Court held it was up to the jury to pass on the credibility of the dying declaration, and the length of time between the declaration and death is only one factor to be considered. *Id.*

In the case before the court, the solicitor first argued there was no evidence from any of the witnesses, law enforcement officers, EMS workers, or pathologist the victim knew he was dying. (R. p. 127, line 22 – p. 128, line 4.) *McHoney* allows the court to consider the circumstances surrounding the statement to infer the victim's state of mind, so the judge could have taken into account the victim's ability to walk and gesture, the prompt arrival of officers and EMS, and the victim's apparent improvement in condition once EMS responders began suctioning his airway. (R. pp. 22-23.) Had the judge ruled the statement was inadmissible on the dying declaration basis alone, that decision would still be reviewed by this Court under the abuse of discretion standard set forth in *McDonald* and *Kelly*. The record reflects, however, the trial judge was more concerned with the portion of the proffered testimony which offered uncorroborated evidence of third party guilt. (R. pp. 128-132.)

In his brief, Appellant claims the trial judge erred because he reasoned "that for the dying declaration to be admissible it must **also** meet all of the elements for evidence of third party guilt. (FBOR at p. 15.) This is a misstatement of the judge's ruling. In effect, the trial court ruled a statement made upon belief of impending death, **if also** providing evidence of third party guilt, must satisfy the requirements of both tests. The location of the "also" makes a significant difference. In *State v. Hall*, 134 S.C. 361, 133 S.E.2d 24 (1926) and *State v. Bethea*, 241 S.C. 16,

126 S.E.2d 846(1962), the court held a dying declaration was admissible under what is now the approximate language of Rule 804(b)(2) because the person identified in the declaration was the defendant, not a third party. There was no need for the court to address the third party guilt question when it enumerated the requirements for the statement's admissibility.

As for Appellant's argument the language of 804(b)(3) contains a qualifier for third party guilt, and so 804(b)(2) must not intend any qualifiers, this argument assumes the evidence is admitted in a vacuum, with no other evidentiary considerations. The rule governing a statement against interest, or 804(b)(3), contains elements, or "qualifiers" most often applicable to the reliability of the statement. In other words, a statement contrary to a person's interest is unlikely to have been a lie, unless someone on trial for a crime offers exculpatory evidence and then the very existence of the statement is suspect. A dying declaration, on the other hand, such as those offered by the prosecution in *Hill* and *Bethea* to prove the identification of the defendant by the deceased victim, is often corroborated by and relevant to the State's theory of the case. While the statement against interest predicts the need for corroboration, the dying declaration does not.

Regardless of the elements of Rule 804(b)(2) or 804(b)(3), neither exception can anticipate all complications of admissibility. When confronted by them, the courts address the concerns individually, as the trial judge did here. The fact the victim may have said the name "Douglas," which was arguably an exception to the hearsay prohibition, was only one factor the court could consider before ultimately moving on to the more important analysis of third party guilt. Because the evidence failed to cast even a bare suspicion of guilt on any particular person, the court properly refused to allow it. To have done otherwise would have subjected the same evidence to assessment under Rule 403 as confusing and a waste of time since trial counsel asserted he was not introducing the statement to show "Douglas" was the shooter.

Harmless Error

Lastly on this issue, the improper admission of hearsay evidence is not necessarily reversible error, but is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Graham*, 314 S.C. 383, 386, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994). Appellate courts must determine whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* Moreover, whether an error is harmless depends on the particular circumstances of the case. *Id.* The circumstances include, but are not limited to, the importance of the witness' testimony in the State's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination, and the overall strength of the State's case. *Id.* Error is only harmless "when it 'could not have reasonably affected the result at trial.'" *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (citation omitted).

Thus, even if the Court were to find the trial court abused its broad scope of discretion, any alleged error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Graham*, 314 S.C. 383, 386, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994) (holding admission of hearsay evidence is subject to harmless error analysis). The State presented compelling evidence the victim was unable to talk at all, only to gesture and make "gurgling sounds." The State also put forth witnesses who assisted the victim when he made the purported statement, and those witnesses did not hear the victim say "Douglas" in response to the officer's questions concerning who shot him. Thus, even if the statement was admitted, the jury would have also heard multiple conflicting statements casting doubt on Officer Wells' testimony. Additionally, even if the jury believed Wells heard the victim respond with the word, "Douglas," the State's theory of the case was corroborated by and cumulative to that of multiple other witnesses and evidence. *See Graham* (stating appellate courts will examine a host of factors to determine if the error was harmless, including the

importance of the witness' testimony, whether the testimony was cumulative, and the presence of evidence corroborating the witness' testimony).

The court's ruling of admissibility of Wells' testimony had no impact on the jury's guilty verdict when an examination of the record shows the State also admitted and the jury considered: (1) Appellant's friend Clarence Riley, whose testimony put the gun in appellant's hand, and identified Appellant's plaid shirt later found with gunshot residue on it. Riley later buried the gun because he heard Appellant used it in a crime (R. pp. 57-60); (2) testimony from witnesses who placed Appellant at the club and in the parking lot with a gun immediately before the shooting (R. pp. 49-51); (3) a plaid shirt matching the one worn by Appellant that night was found near the club and tested positive for gunshot residue (R. pp. 38-39; 94-99); (4) testimony Appellant was out of breath immediately following the shooting (R. p. 59); and (5) Appellant was not wearing the plaid shirt immediately following the shooting, and his girlfriend removed debris from Appellant's shirt in back seat of the car. (R. p. 59.) Accordingly, because admitting Wells' statement would not have affected the verdict, any alleged error in refusing to admit it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Mitchell*, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (holding an error admitting hearsay evidence is harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result at trial).

II. After hearing arguments from the State and the defense, the trial court made a thorough and well-reasoned ruling on the admissibility of hearsay evidence of third party guilt in accordance with the guidelines of SCRCrimP Rule 18(a) and (b). The court's refusal to allow further argument after the ruling was within his discretion and was not structural error, which is rarely determined and only found in limited circumstances.

Appellant next argues the ruling on the admissibility of the evidence was error itself, because it was an "arbitrary ruling, it violated Rule 18(a), SCRCrimP, and it denied appellant his right to be heard fully in his defense." (FBOR at 18.) Appellant misstates the record before the

court. Appellant further exaggerates the application of the structural error concept, arguing the court's refusal to allow him to argue after the court's ruling constituted an error so profound it transcended the criminal process. *See State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 741 S.E.2d 694 (1013).

As discussed in the previous issue, the United States Supreme Court has held the refusal to admit dubious evidence of third party guilty does not violate a defendant's constitutional rights. *Holmes*, at 327 (noting "[Such evidence] may be excluded where it does not sufficiently connect the other person to the crime, as, for example, where the evidence is speculative or remote, or does not tend to prove or disprove a material fact in issue at the defendant's trial") (citation omitted). Appellant's argument is merely an effort to side step that holding by attacking the trial judge instead.

In *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279 (1991), the US Supreme Court divided constitutional errors into two classes: 1) trial errors, which include most constitutional errors, and which occur during presentation of the case to the jury and may be quantitatively assessed in the context of other evidence to determine harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt and 2) structural defects, which defy analysis by harmless error standards because they affect the framework within which the trial proceeds, not the trial process itself. *Id.* at 1246; *see also Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 7-9 (1999). Furthermore, in our jurisdiction, structural errors are only those that deprive defendants of basic protections without which a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence and no criminal punishment may be regarded as fundamentally fair. *State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 248, 741 S.E.2d 694, 706 (2013). The Supreme Court characterized as "structural" "a very limited class of errors" that trigger automatic reversal because they undermine the fairness of a criminal proceeding as a whole. *United States v. Davila*, 133 S. Ct. 2139, 2149, 186 L. Ed. 2d 139 (2013)

Such structural errors include the denial of counsel, *see Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), the denial of the right of self-representation, *see McKaskle v. Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 177–178, n. 8, (1984), the denial of the right to public trial, *see Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 49, n. 9 (1984), and the denial of the right to trial by jury by the giving of a defective reasonable-doubt instruction, *see Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275 (1993).

Turning to the facts of the case, the State strongly disputes Appellant’s initial premise defense counsel was not allowed to argue Appellant’s position on the admissibility of Officer Wells’ testimony. The trial court asked to hear from the solicitor first then turned to Appellant for his argument concerning the dying declaration, and more specifically, the issue of third party guilt. (R. p. 128, line 21 – p. 129, line 19.) Defense counsel acknowledged he could not corroborate the existence of a third party named ‘Douglas’ and appeared to recognize the evidence of third party guilt would not be recognized under that doctrine. Defense counsel then argued the statement was a dying declaration, which the Court summed up by asking Appellant if he believed it was admissible pursuant to 804(b)(2) as a hearsay exception. Counsel said, ‘‘That’s my position.’’ (R. p. 129, line 13.) When the trial judge pressed counsel on the additional consideration of the third party guilt, defense counsel answered evasively, telling the court he was offering the statement to the jury only so that they may hear the victim’s final words. (R. p. 129, lines 17-19.)

After counsel’s failure to address the third party guilt issue, the court then gave a thorough and detailed analysis of the law of the dying declaration exception followed by an in-depth third party guilt discussion. (R. pp. 129 – 132.) Contrary to Appellant’s claim the court refused to hear argument and violated Rule 18(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, in fact the court adhered stringently to the Rules of Criminal Procedure and set forth a

well-reasoned basis for his ruling before declaring the State's objection to the testimony sustained. (R. p. 132, lines 7-12.) Only when defense counsel attempted to argue further *after* the court made its ruling did the judge inform counsel he would allow no more argument. The court went on to clarify he would allow the defense to call Officer Wells as a witness to testify about the victim's last actions and words, but he would not allow testimony "as to what he heard as far as the name." (R. p. 132, line 17-22.)

Interestingly, the language of Rule 18 SCRCrimP makes it clear the trial judge went above and beyond what the rules require in hearing from defense counsel on the admissibility of the testimony. Rule 18 states, in part:

(a) Argument After Ruling. Counsel shall not attempt to further argue any matter after he has been heard and the ruling of the court has been pronounced.

(b) Argument on Objection. No argument shall be made on objections to admissibility of evidence or conduct of trial unless specifically requested by the court.

...

Rule 18, SCRCrimP. The trial judge had already heard from the defense *and* ruled on the State's objection to the motion before defense counsel violated 18(a) above by attempting to argue *further*. Moreover, 18 (b) makes it clear the trial judge need not have heard from counsel at all on the objection to the admissibility of the testimony. The court clearly accommodated defense counsel more than necessary in an effort to make the most reasoned decision possible.

The trial court's decision to discontinue further arguments after his ruling was also within his discretion. A trial judge has the inherent power to maintain order and decorum in his courtroom. *See, e.g., State v. Sinclair*, 275 S.C. 608, 274 S.E.2d 411 (1981) (conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge); *State v. Shelton*, 270 S.C. 577, 243 S.E.2d 455 (1978) (trial judge has inherent power to maintain order in his court); *State v. Tuckness*, 257 S.C. 295, 185 S.E.2d 607 (1971) (trial judge has the right and duty to ensure

that proper decorum is maintained and that trial is conducted in an orderly and dignified manner).

In the case before the court, the trial court fully prepared for this trial, anticipating and preliminarily researching the issue of conflicting evidentiary concerns facing the admission of Wells' testimony. Appellant argues the court's ruling was in error, then seeks to disparage the method in which the trial judge reached his conclusion and conducted his courtroom. Appellant's second issue is merely an attempt to by-pass the harmless error argument by calling the court's perfectly respectful interaction with defense counsel structural error. Defense counsel was heard when the court was not required to hear him, counsel's objection was noted for the record for issue preservation, and the judge even offered to allow some of the testimony to come into evidence. Far from a structural error which affected the framework of the trial or transcended the criminal process, the objection to the testimony, the proffer, the argument, and the issue preservation were the very model of the criminal appellate process. Consequently, Appellant obtained the benefit of the last closing argument by electing not to call any defense witnesses, but still filed his appeal on the basis of the preserved evidentiary issue. However, as both of Appellant's issues on appeal lack merit, this Court should affirm his conviction.

CONCLUSION

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